THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

APR 19 2019

S.C. SUPREME COURT

\_\_\_\_\_  
Certiorari - PCR  
APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
Robert M. Young, Sr., Circuit Court Judge

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appellate Case № 2019-000119  
\_\_\_\_\_

Roger A. Williams, #303509 ..... Petitioner,

vs.

The State ..... Respondent.

\_\_\_\_\_  
PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI  
\_\_\_\_\_

C RAUCH WISE  
Attorney at Law  
305 Main Street  
Greenwood, SC 29646  
rauchwise@gmail.com  
S.C. Bar No. 006188  
(864) 229-5010

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

##

## Statement of Issues Presented

Question I: Did the Post Conviction Relief Court err in failing to find that trial counsel was ineffective when trial counsel failed to object to the testimony of Grace Trotman when she testified that Roger Williams did not believe in Jesus or God?

Question II: Did the Post Conviction Relief judge err in failing to find that trial counsel was ineffective in failing to object to a statement by Grace Trotman that Roger Williams was prejudiced against white people?

Question III: Did the Post Conviction Relief Judge err in failing to find trial counsel was ineffective in failing to ask for a directed verdict on the act of omission in failing to call an ambulance on the day of the incident as the testimony establishes that the child was deceased at the time the call was made to Roger Williams and, therefore, the failure to render aid did not cause the death of the minor child?

Question IV: Did the Post Conviction Relief Judge err in failing to hold that trial counsel was ineffective in failing to move to quash the indictment due to the indictment being vague and therefore in violation of the Due Process clause of Article I, § 3 of the Constitution of the State of South Carolina and the Fourteenth Amendment of the Constitution of the United States of America?

Question V: Did the Post Conviction Relief Judge err in failing to hold trial counsel was ineffective in failing to preserve for appellate review the refusal of the trial judge to admit the video statement of Grace Trotman when the video statement contradicted her trial testimony?

Question VI: Did the Post Conviction Relief Judge err in failing to hold that trial counsel was ineffective in failing to object to the testimony by Grace Trotman and others as to Roger Williams abusing her and the picture of Ms. Trotman that purports to show the abuse?

Question VII: Did the Post Conviction Relief Judge err in failing to find the cumulative errors deprived Roger Williams of a fair trial?

## Statement of the Case

### *Procedural History*

Roger Williams was tried before a jury from October 8 to October 11, 2012. Mr. Williams initially filed an appeal, but the appeal was withdrawn on October 24, 2014, as he believed no properly preserved issue had merit. He subsequently filed a Post Conviction Relief Petition on August 27, 2015, which was amended on May 21, 2018.

A Post Conviction Relief Hearing was held on May 23, 2018. By Order dated November 26, 2018, Judge Roger Young denied the application. Mr. Williams timely filed a Rule 59 Motion to Alter or Amend the Order. Judge Young denied this Motion on January 8, 2019. Mr. Williams filed his Notice of Appeal on January 25, 2019.

### *Factual History*

The record shows that on June 7, 2010, Grace Trotman, the girlfriend of Mr. Williams, phoned him at his place of employment and told him that his son was not breathing. App. at 230, l 12 to 231, l 13. Mr. Williams did not have transportation home and had to call for a ride home. When he arrived, Grace was outside of the house with her other child. His son was in the house deceased. App. at 232, l 20 to 233, l 10. Mr. Williams told Grace not to call 911 or the police. App. at 230, l 23 to 231, l 3. Upon seeing that his son was in fact dead, Mr. Williams did not call an ambulance or police, but instead entered upon a diabolical scheme to hide the death of his son. The basic plan was to place the remains of his son in a plastic barrel and cover him with concrete. App. at 235, ll 3-17. He then proceeded to lie to the mother of their child as to the whereabouts of their son. The ruse continued until July of 2012, when a plan was made to pretend his son was kidnaped while at the battery in Charleston. App. at 248, ll 11-22; 253, ll 13 to 254, l 20. Upon

being questioned about the incident, Grace Trotman eventually told the police what had happened. App. at 257, 17 to 259, 1 12. As a result, the current charges were brought against Ms. Trotman and Mr. Williams.

The medical testimony at trial established that the child had a previous head injury. The precise cause of this head injury was never clearly established. The testimony was also that the child suffered a seizure on the Friday before the his death on Monday but appeared to have recovered from it. App. at 489 ll 6-17. Notwithstanding the argument that there were “multiple seizures,” the Friday seizure and the Monday seizure were the only clearly reported seizures. The medical testimony was the cause of death was brain injury.

Grace Trotman testified against Mr. Williams at trial. She testified Mr. Williams had struck the child but never clearly identified Mr. Williams as having struck his son in the head. She did testify that Mr. Williams struck his son in the chest and his son fell down and hit his head. Mr. Williams, in his interview, denied ever hitting his son in the head. He stated he only struck his son in the chest or perhaps the back. App. at 1388, ll 14-19. On the day of his son’s death, Ms. Trotman told the police in a video recorded statement that she struck the boy aside the head, his head then hit the wall and afterwards he appeared to have a seizure. He subsequently stopped breathing and she called Mr. Williams. Applicant’s Exhibit 5.

#### *Post Conviction Relief Hearing*

Mr. Williams has contended his trial counsel was ineffective in failing to object to several statements and the introduction of several pieces of evidence. He also contends trial counsel should have asked for a directed verdict on the charge of failing to render aid by not calling an ambulance. At the least, trial counsel should have eliminated the failure to call 911 on the day of

the incident as a means of committing the crime as the evidence established that the child was deceased at the time Ms. Trotman called Mr. Williams. Mr. Williams further contends that trial counsel should have moved to quash the indictment because it failed to inform Mr. Williams exactly what act of omission would have been sufficient to sustain the conviction of homicide by child abuse. The factual details of these allegations will be discussed separately.

## Argument

### Question I

**Did the Post Conviction Relief Court err in failing to find that trial counsel was ineffective when trial counsel failed to object to the testimony of Grace Trotman when she testified that Roger Williams did not believe in Jesus or God?**

Rule 610 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence provides “Evidence of the belief or opinions of a witness on matters of religion is not admissible for the purposes of showing by reason of their nature the witness’ credibility is impaired or enhance.” While this Rule applies on its face to a “witness” it would also obviously apply, if not more so, to any attempt to attack the credibility or character of a defendant for a lack of religious beliefs. Simply put, religious beliefs have no place in a courtroom, unless it is an important factor in the trial. The religious beliefs of Mr. Williams were not a factor in the case.

In the trial of this case, the State asked Grace Trotman about the minor child liking to sing. The State asked:

- Q. What kind of child was [minor victim]?
- A. Very happy. He liked to sing, he always - -
- Q. What would he sing?
- A. Church songs he learned in school.
- Q. Do you know if Roger had an opinion that he expressed to you about those songs?
- A. Yes, he didn’t let him sing the songs.
- Q. Why not?
- A. Because he was like - - he wanted to - - he didn’t believe in God. I mean, he didn’t believe in Jesus and so he didn’t want his son singing songs like that.
- Q. How did he get [minor victim] to stop singing the songs?
- A. Eventually he stopped on his own.
- App. at 201, 1 16 to , 202, 1 6.

At the Post Conviction Relief hearing, Ann Williams, the Assistant Solicitor prosecuting

this case, testified that the purpose of the question was to establish motive as to “why Mr. Williams would beat a two year old like this and several things came out through Grace Trotman.” App. at 1429, ll 17-19. The problem with that theory is that Ms. Trotman never testified that Mr. Williams struck his child because he was singing religious songs.

The issue of whether Mr. Williams was religious or not religious was not an issue in the trial. Whether Mr. Williams was religious or not religious did not make Mr. Williams more likely than not to inflict injuries upon his minor son. The testimony was not admissible under Rule 401 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence and was specifically prohibited under Rule 610. No objection was raised by trial counsel to this testimony. South Carolina is known to be part of the “Bible Belt.” To tell a jury a defendant does not believe in Jesus is very prejudicial. Only in 1976 did our Supreme Court declare that a belief in God was no longer required to be a witness. *State v. Green*, 267 S.C. 599, 230 S.E.2d 618 (1976). South Carolina has no reported cases involving the interpretation of Rule 610.

Other States have taken a clear position that references to religion or religious beliefs to impeach a witness or defendant are not proper. As one Court said, “With limited exceptions not relevant here, any attempt to discredit or otherwise penalize a witness because of his religious beliefs or for the exercise of his right to affirm the truth of his testimony is improper, because those factors are irrelevant to the issue of credibility.” *People v. Wood*, 66 N.Y.2d 374, 378, 488 N.E.2d 86, 88 (1985). In *People v. Hall*, 391 Mich. 175, 215 N.W.2d 166 (1974) the Michigan Supreme Court reversed the conviction after the prosecutor improperly asked a question about religious beliefs. This was true even though trial counsel raised no objection to the question. The Court said, “Our statute clearly states that an accused is entitled to be tried and convicted

without the question of his religious opinions ever being put in front of the judge or jury for their consideration. Whether the defendant hesitates or unhesitatingly responds negatively or positively, or if he should quite properly refuse to respond, he still cannot avoid the risk of stimulating an offensively prejudicial reaction in some quarter of the jury.” *Id* at 182, 215 N.W.2d at 171 The Michigan Statute provided “No person may be deemed incompetent as a witness, in any court, matter or proceeding, on account of his opinions on the subject of religion. No witness may be questioned in relation to his opinions on religion, either before or after he is sworn.” M.C.L.A. 600.1436. The statute carries the same import as Rule 610 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence.

In *State v. Thomas*, 130 Ariz. 432, 636 P.2d 1214(1981) the Arizona Supreme Court, again with no proper objection at trial, reversed the conviction of the defendant because the State asked the minor child in a criminal sexual conduct case questions that elicited answers that the minor child was a very religious person. The Court stated, “We believe that strict adherence to these proscriptions becomes even more compelling in the context of a criminal proceeding, where the question of guilt or innocence is balanced upon the credibility of the prosecuting witness. Thus, there can be no question that error occurred when the various religious references were made during the course of appellant’s trial. Can it be said, however, that this unobjected-to error was so serious that it deprived appellant of a fair trial?” *Id.* at 436, 636 P.2d at 1218. In reversing the case the Court concluded, “We, therefore, conclude that admission of these religious references constituted fundamental error requiring reversal and a new trial.” *Id.* at 437, 636 P.2d at 1219.

Likewise, Mr. Williams was entitled to have his case tried without the jury hearing

testimony that he did not believe in Jesus or God. Such testimony was not relevant. It added nothing to the trial, except to prejudice Mr. Williams in the eyes and minds of the jurors. This Court should grant Mr. Williams a new trial because of the improper references to his lack of religious beliefs in violation of Rule 601. As noted in the discussion below on a related issue, trial counsel never articulated a valid trial strategy for not objecting to the improper reference to the lack of religious belief. As to trial strategy, this Court has said, “Counsel's failure to object because he did not want to confuse or upset the jury does not constitute valid strategy.” *Dawkins v. State*, 346 S.C. 151, 157, 551 S.E.2d 260, 263 (2001) overruled on other grounds *Thompson v. State*, 423 S.C. 235, 814 S.E.2d 487 (2018). The Post Conviction Relief judge erred in failing to find trial counsel was ineffective on this issue and erred in failing to find prejudice.

## Question II

**Did the Post Conviction Relief judge err in failing to find that trial counsel was ineffective in failing to object to a statement by Grace Trotman that Roger Williams was prejudiced against white people?**

Shortly after the improper remark about his religious beliefs discussed above, the State elicited testimony from Ms. Trotman that Mr. Williams was racially prejudiced against whites. The testimony was as follows:

- Q. Did he go to school when he lived with y'all?  
A. No, ma'am.  
Q. Did Roger tell you what he thought about the school?  
A. He didn't want him to go to school. He felt like he was going to teach him what he needed to know. He didn't want white people to teach his kids.  
Q. He didn't want white people to teach his kids?  
A. Yes.  
App. at 202, ll 10 - 21.

At the Post Conviction Relief hearing Ann Williams, the assistant solicitor prosecuting

this case, testified that the purpose of the racial comment was “to establish that he wouldn’t even let the kids go to school, and I think what Mr. Falk was trying to establish is that they were poor.” App. at 1430, 125 to 1431, 13. Again, establishing the fact Mr. Williams did not want his child to be taught by white people was more prejudicial than probative.

Whether the child was going to school during the summer he was with Mr. Williams was not relevant to the issues at trial. And the fact that Mr. Williams did not want “white people to teach his kids” was completely not relevant to any of the issues at trial and prejudicial to Mr. Williams. Again, trial counsel made no objection to the testimony. The Statement was nothing more than an appeal to racial prejudice. The appeal to racial prejudice in a criminal trial has led to much litigation. See, ANNOT., *Prosecutor’s appeal in criminal case to racial, national, or religious prejudice as ground for mistrial, new trial, or vacation of sentence - modern cases*, 70 A.L.R.4th 664 (1989). In *State v. Bell*, 263 S.C. 239, 209 S.E.2d 890 (1974), while not held to be reversible error, an appeal to racial prejudice has been held to be improper, but any error was cured by a timely objection and a curative instruction to the jury. Neither of these occurred in this case.

The American Bar Association has established principles that prohibit a prosecutor from appealing to racial or religious prejudices in any arguments. ABA STANDARDS FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE: THE PROSECUTION FUNCTION, Standard 3-5(c). The same principles should apply to questions asked by a prosecutor. The question here elicited an answer that appealed to the racial prejudices of the jury. In *State v. Rogan*, 91 Hawai’i 405, 984 P.2d 1231 (1999), the Hawaii Supreme Court discusses this issue and collects numerous cases across the nation that condemn appeals to racial prejudice. In *Rogan* the reversible error was a

comment made in closing arguments that the defendant was a “black, military guy” and the case was “every mother’s nightmare.” The Court ruled that such statements were “an improper emotional appeal that could foreseeably have inflamed the jury.” *Id.* at 414, 984 P.2d at 1240.

The statement had no relevance to this case. It could only have served to prejudice the jury against Mr. Williams. The State never attempted to justify the statement as having some relevance. Even if the statement had some minor relevance to the case, obviously its prejudice greatly outweighed any probative value. The issue in the case was whether Mr. Williams physically abused his child or failed to render aid. Whether the child at age two was attending school was simply of no importance. Trial counsel should have made an objection and asked for a mistrial when this statement was made. His failure to do so was obviously prejudicial to Mr. Williams.

At the Post Conviction Relief hearing, Mr. Falk was honest enough to admit he did not know his trial theory was not to object to keep from calling attention to the incident. As he testified, “I can’t tell you that was my theory, but if that happened today, that would be my theory, and I’m assuming that’s what happened then.” App. at 1346, 125 to 1347, 12; 1348, 11 2-4. The South Carolina Supreme Court has said, “Thus, trial counsel could not testify he had an articulable trial strategy in not objecting. The presumption of adequate representation based on a valid trial strategy disappears when trial counsel acknowledged there was no trial strategy in mind when he failed to object to the improper hearsay and bolstering testimony.” *Smith v. State*, 386 S.C. 562, 568, 689 S.E.2d 629, 633 (2010). The Court of Appeals has held “Counsel’s strategy will be reviewed under ‘an objective standard of reasonableness.’” *Brown v. State*, 375 S.C. 464, 481, 652 S.E.2d 765, 774 (Ct. App. 2007). As noted in the discussion above, this

Court held in *Dawkins* the failure to object to prejudicial testimony to keep from upsetting a jury is not a valid trial strategy. In his Rule 59 motion, Mr. Williams called to the attention of the PCR Court that trial counsel did not testify he had a trial strategy of not objecting. Without comment on this issue, the PCR judge summarily affirmed its prior order.

What objective standard of reasonableness would permit any reasonable trial counsel not to object to two such clearly prejudicial comments? With no objection, the issue cannot even be reviewed on appeal. This was not some fleeting, ambiguous comment. This was a very clear statement that Mr. Williams was prejudiced against white people.

The South Carolina Supreme Court said in *Sanchez v. State*, 351 S.C. 270, 276, 569 S.E.2d 363, 365–66 (2002). “Counsel’s reason for not objecting was that he wanted the jury to hear the testimony because it illustrated the victim's vague statements regarding the alleged assault. Because the officer's testimony regarding the dolls corroborated the victim's testimony at trial, counsel’s strategy was not reasonable given the prejudicial effect this testimony had on Sanchez.” In the present case, not objecting to a prejudicial statement that should have resulted in a mistrial is likewise not a reasonable trial strategy. A trial strategy based upon an assumption is not a clearly articulated trial strategy. The Post Conviction Relief judge erred in failing to find trial counsel was ineffective in not objecting. The comment was prejudicial to Mr. Williams.

### Question III

**Did the Post Conviction Relief Judge err in failing to find trial counsel was ineffective in failing to ask for a directed verdict on the act of omission in failing to call an ambulance on the day of the incident as the testimony establishes that the child was deceased at the time the call was made to Roger Williams and, therefore, the failure to**

### **render aid did not cause the death of the minor child?**

The State had several theories in this case as to how Mr. Williams could be guilty of the crime of homicide by child abuse.<sup>1</sup> The theories are: (1) Mr. Williams actually struck his child, (2) Mr. Williams allowed Ms. Trotman to strike his child, (3) Mr. Williams failed to call an ambulance on the day of the incident and, therefore, failed to render medical aid, and lastly, (4) otherwise failed to render medical aid to his child. Arguably there is evidence to support each theory, except the failure to render aid on the day of the call by Ms. Trotman. The record establishes that Ms. Trotman told Mr. Williams' employer and testified that the child had stopped breathing on the day of the incident. As the evidence established that Ms. Trotman said the child was not breathing on the day of the incident, failure to render aid on that day could not be a basis for the charges against Mr. Williams.

The PCR judge erroneously stated, "There is no such requirement that trial counsel raise all potentially meritorious issues in arguing for a directed verdict. Here, Counsel made his strongest argument for a directed verdict at trial - that there was no medical evidence linking Applicant to Victim's death." App. at 1361, ll 16- 20, 1362, ll 1-20 As the testimony was that the minor child was deceased at the time of the call, failing to call an ambulance would not have made Mr. Williams guilty of failing to render aid. This is not a case of arguing all theories, but arguing one that would have required the trial judge to direct a verdict on one means of proving the crime. And on the one the State claimed Mr. Williams had "confessed."

During the closing arguments, the State urged that the jury convict Mr. Williams based

---

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