RECEIVED

AUG 21 2019

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

CERTIORARI TO BERKELEY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Roger M. Young Sr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-000119

ROGER A. WILLIAMS,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR
WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

BENJAMIN LIMBAUGH
S.C. Bar No. 103334
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

Petitioner contends that counsel was deficient for failing to move for a directed verdict on this issue because testimony establishes that the child was deceased at the time the call was made to Petitioner, therefore, the failure to render aid did not cause the death of the minor child. Petitioner's interpretation of the testimony and the State's theory of the case does not comport with the testimony of the solicitor at the PCR hearing. Petitioner contends that the only evidence relating to the omission in rendering medical aid was the failure to call an ambulance the day of the incident, however, the State presented medical testimony and argued in closing that the failure to render medical aid extended to the prior abuse that ultimately lead to the child's death. The State also pointed out in closing that Petitioner admitted that he didn't call the ambulance and that makes him guilty. Even if the State was unable to prove that the child was alive at the time the call was made, the jury could have convicted Petitioner on the omission for failing to render medical aid as a result of the other incidents of serious physical abuse. The failure to call

the ambulance the day of the incident was not the sole evidence relied upon by the State to prove the omission by Petitioner.

When ruling on a motion for a directed verdict, the trial court is concerned with the existence or nonexistence of evidence, not its weight. *State v. Larmand*, 415 S.C. 23, 30, 780 S.E.2d 892, 895 (2015) (citing *Butler*, 407 S.C. 376, 381, 755 S.E.2d 457, 460 (2014)). The trial court should grant a directed verdict when the evidence merely raises a suspicion that the accused is guilty. *State v. Hernandez*, 382 S.C. 620, 625-26, 677 S.E.2d 603, 605-06 (2009). A defendant is entitled to a directed verdict when the State fails to produce evidence of the offense charged. *State v. Ladner*, 373 S.C. 103, 120, 644 S.E.2d 684, 693 (2007). Even if Counsel had moved for a directed verdict on the issue of whether Petitioner failed to render medical aid, the testimony presented at trial indicated Trotman called Petitioner, while he was at work, to inform him Victim had stopped breathing. Tr. 230-32, 306. Petitioner instructed her not to call 911, but he would return home. Tr. 231-32, 262, 306-07. An hour later, Petitioner returned and responded: "That boy dead." Tr. 233. Based on the above presented testimony, it is unlikely a directed verdict on this issue would have been successful, therefore, Petitioner has failed to show any prejudice resulting from counsel's failure to move for a directed verdict on this specific issue.

Question IV

The PCR judge properly found that trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to move to quash the indictment where the charge was stated with sufficient specificity and certainty, Petitioner was apprised of the charges against him and the elements of each charged offense.

Petitioner alleges Counsel was ineffective for failing to quash the indictments for homicide by child abuse on the grounds that the indictment was vague and did not specify the

theory upon which the State would proceed at trial. Indictments are not jurisdictional in nature but are merely notice documents. *State v. Gentry*, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005). When judging the sufficiency of an indictment, the court must determine “whether (1) the offense is stated with sufficient certainty and particularity to enable the court to know what judgment to pronounce, and the defendant to know what he is called upon to answer and whether he may plead an acquittal or conviction thereon; and (2) whether it apprises the defendant of the elements of the offense that is intended to be charged.” *Id.* at 102-03, 610 S.E.2d at 500 (citing *State v. Wilkes*, 353 S.C. 462, 578 S.E.2d 717 (2003)). “An indictment passes legal muster if it ‘charges the crime substantially in the language of the . . . statute prohibiting the crime or so plainly that the nature of the offense charged may be easily understood.’” *State v. Reddick*, 348 S.C. 631, 635, 560S.E.2d 441, 443 (Ct. App. 2002) (quoting S.C. Code Ann. § 17-19-20 (1985)). Moreover, “whether the indictment could be more definite or certain is irrelevant.” *Id.* at 103, 610 S.E.2d at 500.

The indictment stated with sufficient certainty and particularity Petitioner was charged with homicide by child abuse. Moreover, the indictments clearly apprised Petitioner of the elements of each charged offense. In particular, the indictment for homicide by child abuse charged: “That [Petitioner] did in Berkeley County on or between the dates of 5-20-10 and 6-07-10 cause the death of a child under the age of eleven while committing child abuse or neglect; and the death occurred under circumstances manifesting an extreme indifference to human life.” 2010-GS-08-1519. The indictment further alleged: “To Wit: inflicting, or allowing to be inflicted by act or omission, harm on [Victim] . . . causing his death; and/or failing by act or omission to supply [Victim] with adequate health care causing harm resulting in his death.” *Id.* This is precisely the same language as that of section 16-3-85 of the South Carolina Code, which

states in pertinent part: “A person is guilty of homicide by child abuse if the person: causes the death of a child under the age of eleven while committing child abuse or neglect, and the death occurs under circumstances manifesting an extreme indifference to human life.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-85(A)(1).

Notwithstanding the indictment itself, counsel testified at the PCR hearing that he was aware that the State was going to attempt to show that Petitioner failed to call the ambulance in an attempt to cover up the abuse. Counsel also testified that he was well aware of the State’s alternative theories of the case through the discovery, his own investigation, and his meetings with the solicitors. Petitioner argues that the indictment was improperly vague as to the actual acts or omission committed by Petitioner. However, the indictment specifically referred to Petitioner failing by act or omission to supply minor child with adequate health care causing harm resulting in death. The indictment in this case provided enough specificity and certainty for a court to know what judgement to pronounce, the defendant was on notice as to what he was called upon to answer, and Petitioner was apprised of the elements of the charged offenses. Petitioner has failed to show deficiency on the part of counsel or any prejudice resulting from the failure to move to quash the indictment.

Question V

The PCR judge properly found that trial counsel was not ineffective in failing to preserve for appellate review the refusal of the trial judge to admit the video statement of Grace Trotman where the video was inadmissible extrinsic evidence of a prior inconsistent statement.

Petitioner alleges Counsel was ineffective for failing to properly cross-examine his co-defendant, Grace Trotman. Petitioner contends Counsel was ineffective for failing to introduce Trotman’s videotaped interview with law enforcement. “Extrinsic evidence of a prior

inconsistent statement by a witness is not admissible unless the witness is advised of the substance of the statement, the time and place it was allegedly made, and the person to whom it was made, and is given the opportunity to explain or deny the statement.” Rule 613(b), SCRE. If a witness does not admit to making the statement, then extrinsic evidence of the statement is admissible. *Id.* However, if the witness admits to the statement, extrinsic evidence of that statement is inadmissible. *Id.* Here, Trotman never denied giving statements to law enforcement and admitted she was aware those statements were recorded. Tr. 283. Moreover, Trotman admitted to popping Victim in the arm “kinda hard” and further admitted Victim fell back and hit his head on the wall after she hit him. Tr. 298-99, 304. She further admitted she demonstrated these actions, both by her and Victim, in her interview. Tr. 299-300. Trotman even went so far as demonstrating the manner in which she hit Victim before the jury. Because Trotman never denied making the statements and never denied hitting Victim, the video would have been inadmissible as extrinsic evidence of a prior inconsistent statement. In addition to eliciting the above testimony from Trotman during cross-examination, Counsel attempted to introduce the video of Trotman’s interview at trial several times. *See* Tr. 294, 300. The trial court, however, was unwilling to admit the video, as Trotman had already admitted she was guilty of everything that happened on the day of Victim’s death. Tr. 309.

Petitioner argues that the video tape should have been admitted by the trial court as being a prior inconsistent statement for the purposes of impeachment and that the PCR court ignored the basis upon which trial counsel sought to admit the video in its ruling. As previously stated, Trotman admitted to striking the child and causing the child’s head to hit the wall. The testimony was also supplemented by Trotman demonstrating on the stand the manner in which she struck the child. Petitioner appears to argue that counsel attempted to introduce the video tape as

extrinsic evidence of a prior inconsistent statement, which is precisely what the PCR court ruled would have been inadmissible. Petitioner has failed to show how he was prejudiced by counsel failing to preserve this issue for appeal where the video tape was inadmissible for the purpose offered, the witness essentially testified to the same set of facts as was in the video, and the witness made the same demonstration in the courtroom as was made in the video. Therefore, Petitioner has failed to show either deficiency or prejudice as it relates to this allegation.

Question VI

The PCR court properly found that trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to the introduction of Grace Trotman's mugshot where counsel had a valid trial strategy for not objecting and where the evidence was admissible under a *ges restae* theory.

First, Petitioner contends the introduction of such a photograph inserted evidence of a different abuse, for which Petitioner was not on trial, and was improper character evidence under Rule 404(b), SCRE. However, such evidence may be admissible "to show motive, identity, the existence of a common scheme or plan, the absence of mistake or accident, or intent." *Id.* "Under the res gestae theory, 'evidence of other bad acts may be an integral part of the crime with which the defendant is charged or may be needed to aid the fact finder in understanding the context in which the crime occurred.'" *State v. Dennis*, 402 S.C. 627, 635, 742 S.E.2d 21, 25 (Ct. App. 2013) (quoting *State v. Owens*, 346 S.C. 637, 652, 552 S.E.2d 745, 753 (2001), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Gentry*, 363 S.C. 93, 106, 610 S.E.2d 494, 501 (2005)).

Here, even if the mugshot of Trotman was introduced as evidence of other bad acts, it would likely have been admissible as necessary for the jury to consider in order to understand the context and circumstances in which the crime occurred. The abuse suffered by Trotman at the hands of Petitioner directly contributed the series of events leading to the child's death and was

interconnected with the abuse of the victim it was necessary for a full understanding of the offense. However, counsel testified at the evidentiary hearing that he thought that the picture was a typically bad mugshot and never drew the conclusion that the photograph showed evidence of domestic violence.

Second, trial counsel enumerated a valid trial strategy for failing to object to the introduction of Grace Trotman's mugshot. Trial counsel testified that he did not object to the introduction of the mugshot because it was helpful to the defense's theory of the case, that Trotman was the person who actually abused the victim and directly caused the death. Trial counsel testified that showing Trotman was a criminal with a mugshot only served to enhance that theory to the jury. As stated previously, where counsel articulates a valid strategic reason for his actions, counsel's performance should not be found to be ineffective. Here, counsel clearly articulated a valid trial strategy for not objecting to the introduction of the mugshot. Therefore, Petitioner has failed to show deficiency on the part of counsel or any resulting prejudice as it relates to this allegation.

Question VII

The PCR court properly found the alleged cumulative errors did not deprive Petitioner of a fair trial as cumulative error is not a recognized ground for relief in South Carolina.

Petitioner argues, essentially, the cumulative effect of all trial counsel's errors prejudiced him to the extent he is entitled to a new trial. This argument is without merit, as not only did trial counsel not commit any errors, but this Court has never recognized the cumulative-error doctrine as a basis for PCR. *See, e.g., Simpson v. State*, 367 S.C. 587, 604, 627 S.E.2d 701, 710 (2006) (recognizing that "[w]hether several errors, which are independently found not to be prejudicial, may cumulatively warrant relief is an unsettled question in South Carolina" and holding that

“[b]ecause the PCR court found that only one of Simpson’s allegations had merit, there was no need to conduct a cumulative-error analysis”); *Green v. State*, 351 S.C. 184, 197, 569 S.E.2d 318, 324-25 (2002) (“Whether the cumulation of several errors, which by themselves are not prejudicial, would warrant relief is an unsettled question in South Carolina.”).

Many other jurisdictions, including the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals, have held a cumulative-error analysis of the prejudice prong of *Strickland* is inappropriate, and the correct analysis focusses upon each individual allegation of ineffective assistance. *Fisher v. Angelone*, 163 F.3d 835, 852-53 (4th Cir. 1998); *Wainwright v. Lockhart*, 80 F.3d 1226 (8th Cir. 1996); *Jones v. Sotts*, 59 F.3d 143, 147 (10th Cir. 1995). As the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals explained in *Fisher v. Angelone*:

Fisher argues that the cumulative effect of his trial counsel’s individual actions deprived him of a fair trial. We disagree. Having just determined that none of counsel’s actions could be considered constitutional error. . . it would be odd, to say the least, to conclude that those same actions, when considered collectively, deprived Fisher of a fair trial. Not surprisingly, it has long been the practice of the Fourth Circuit individually to assess claims under *Strickland v. Washington*. . . . To the extent this Court has not specifically stated that ineffective assistance of counsel claims, like claims of trial court error, must be reviewed individually, rather than collectively, we do so now. In so holding, we are in agreement with the majority of our sister circuits that have considered the issue.

Id. (citations omitted). *See also, Mueller v. Angelone*, 181 F.3d 557, 586 n.22 (4th Cir. 1999) (“Petitioner also urges us to consider the cumulative effect of his ineffective assistance of counsel claims rather than whether each claim, considered alone, establishes a constitutional violation. This argument is squarely foreclosed by our recent decision in *Fisher*, 163 F.3d [...at] 852-53 [...]”). The Fourth Circuit further explained, “legitimate cumulative-error analysis evaluates only the effect of matters actually determined to be constitutional error, not the cumulative effect of all of counsel’s actions deemed deficient.” *Fischer*, 163 F.3d at 852 n. 9.

In this case, none of the actions Petitioner alleges were error were found to be so by the post-conviction court, nor did the post-conviction court find Petitioner was prejudiced by any of the alleged errors. As a result, a cumulative-error analysis would be inappropriate on these facts under any interpretation of the doctrine. This Court should therefore deny the Petition, and the post-conviction court's findings should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, the State requests this Court deny the petition for a writ of certiorari and affirm the PCR court's dismissal of the Petitioner's application for relief. Should this Court grant certiorari, Respondent requests the opportunity to fully brief the issues raised.